1953

Vera S. King v. F. F. Hintze : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 24, 1950 the plaintiff and appellee, Vera S. King, and one Edwin G. Kidder (herein designated Assignors) and the defendant and appellant, F. F. Hintze, (herein designated Assignee) entered into a written contract which is the basis of this action. The said contract is plaintiff's Exhibit 2 and was formally admitted in evidence (R. 2, 296). By this contract the Assignee agreed:

1. To organize a corporation under the laws of the State of Nevada to be capitalized for \$500,000.00 divided into 5,000,000 shares of the par value of ten cents each,

of which amount 2,490,000 shares were to remain in the company treasury to be sold, exchanged or otherwise disposed of at such times and for such purposes as the Board of Directors shall determine. All shares were to be fully paid and non-assessable.

2. To execute and deliver to the corporation to be organized by Assignee a quit claim deed conveying all of Assignee's right, title, claim and interest in and to 13 certain unpatented lode mining claims situated in White Pine County, Nevada, designated as Dolomite Nos. 1 to 12, inclusive, and Gap lode mining claim.

3. To transfer and deliver to the Assignors 1,250,000 shares of the capital stock of said mining corporation to be organized by the Assignee in payment of a certain lease and option and certain unpatented lode mining claims hereinafter described.

4. To take possession of the mining claims described in the agreement and all appurtenances thereto and within thirty days commence actual mining operations and perform the work requirements of the lease and option hereinafter described necessary to perpetuate same and maintain same in good standing.

By this contract the Assignors:

1. Agreed to assign to the Assignee (and by said agreement the Assignors did assign to the Assignee) all of the right, title and interest of the Assignors in and to a certain mining lease and option dated November 1, 1948, wherein William Isaacs and Otto Isaacs did lease and let unto Edwin G. Kidder (one of the Assignors),

certain lode mining claims situate in White Pine Mining District, White Pine County, Nevada.

2. Agreed to execute and deliver to the Assignee or to the company to be organized by him a quit claim deed conveying all of the right, title, claim and interest of the Assignors in and to certain lode mining claims situate in White Pine County, Nevada, and described as follows:

King Nos. 1 to 7, inclusive, unpatented lode mining claims

Kidder-King Nos. 1 to 8, inclusive, unpatented lode mining claims

Helena lode unpatented mining claim

Mid-Dolomite Nos. 7 and 8 unpatented lode mining claims

Charter Oak patented lode mining claim, survey No. 52-86, Patent No. 23319

An undivided $\frac{1}{3}$ interest in the Monitor Reindeer patented lode mining claim, Survey No. 127, Patent No. 23319.

3. Granted to the Assignee the exclusive right and option for a period of sixty days to purchase from Assignors 250,000 shares of the capital stock of the corporation, which Assignors were to receive for a total purchase price of \$20,000.00.

4. Warranted that there were no outstanding debts or liens against the property to be conveyed by the Assignors and the said mining lease and option, and that the same are free and clear of debts and claims of any kind, and should any claims arise out of operation of

claims in the past the Assignors will hold the Assignee harmless of all liabilities and expense of litigation which may arise out of same.

5. Gave immediate possession of said mining claims to Assignee.

6. Allowed Assignee, as consideration for his covenants in the agreement and for the assignment of mining claims claimed to be owned by Assignors, to issue to himself 2,510,000 shares (including the 1,250,000 shares to be transferred to Assignors) of the capital stock of the corporation to be organized by him.

The Assignee did not organize the corporation contemplated by the aforesaid agreement (R. 257).

The Assignor King (plaintiff and appellee) instituted and prosecuted this action against the Assignee Hintze (defendant and appellant) to secure judgment awarding said Assignor, King, damages for Assignee's breach of contract arising out of his failure to organize the corporation contemplated by the agreement. Although Edwin G. Kidder was named a party defendant, he was never served with process of court (R. 56). Kidder died December 20, 1952 (R. 22). The motion of the Assignee (defendant and appellant) to make Kidder's personal representative a party to the action (R. 21-24) was denied by the trial court (R. 25, 26). The trial was held on May 18, 19, 20, 1953, before a jury, which returned a verdict in favor of Assignor King (plaintiff and appellee) for nominal damages in the sum of six cents, and general damages in the sum of \$4500.00 (R. 284). The motion of the Assignee Hintze (defendant and appellant) for judg-

ment notwithstanding verdict (R. 286, 287) was denied (R. 288). Thereupon said defendant and appellant perfected his appeal to the Supreme Court from said judgment (R. 289-295, 297).

The trial court instructed the jury that as a matter of law the defendant and appellant Hintze had breached the contract above described and had offered no evidence constituting a defense and that plaintiff and appellee was entitled as a matter of law to nominal damages. (Instruction No. 1; R. 270, 271). There was then submitted to the jury under four separate instructions the question as to whether or not plaintiff and appellee was entitled to general damages, and if so, the amount of same (Instructions 2, 3, 4, 5; R. 272-274).

As a defense to the cause of action asserted against him by plaintiff and appellee King, the defendant and appellant, Hintze, specifically set forth in his amended answer (R. 28-33) his contention that the unpatented lode mining claims, King Nos. 1 to 7, Kidder-King Nos. 1 to 8, Helena and Mid-Dolomite claims Nos. 7 and 8, never had a legal existence at any time, and particularly did not exist on June 24, 1950, the date upon which Exhibit 2 was executed. Hintze further alleged in his amended answer that neither the aforesaid Kidder nor the plaintiff and appellee King had any right, title, claim or interest in and to said unpatented lode mining claims at the time of execution of the contract above described on June 24, 1950, and that at no time either before or after June 24, 1950 did said Kidder and King hold any right, title, claim or interest in and to said unpatented

lode mining claims (R. 30). Said Hintze further alleged that the non-existence of said claims and their fictitious nature became known to him long after June 24, 1950 and only when he attempted to organize a corporation which was to own and operate said claims (R. 30, 31). On this premise, Hintze asserted that it was impossible for Kidder and King to convey to him or to the company which he undertook to form the said unpatented lode mining claims and that such failure and inability of Kidder and King constituted a major and material breach of the contract dated June 24, 1950 by plaintiff and appellee King, and absolved and discharged him from the duty of organizing the corporation contemplated by said contract (R. 31). The trial court by its Instruction No. 1 (R. 270, 271), directed the jury that the defendant and appellant Hintze had failed to establish his defense. The fundamental question on this appeal is whether or not the trial court committed error on this issue.

The defendant and appellant Hintze introduced evidence as to the requirements of the laws of the State of Nevada with respect to the location of lode mining claims in that state. The following statutory provisions were operative at the time the locations of the King Nos. 1 to 7, Kidder-King Nos. 1 to 8, Helena, Mid-Dolomite Nos. 7 and 8, were made. The quotations are from Hillyers Comp. Laws of Nevada, 1929:

Sec. 1563:

“The location and transfers of mining claims heretofore made shall be established and proved in contestation before courts, by the local rules, regulations, or customs of the miners in the sev-

eral mining districts of the territory in which such location and transfers were made." (R. 159)

Sec. 4120:

"Any person who is a citizen of the United States, or who has declared his intention to become such, who discovers a vein or lode, may locate lode mining claim thereon by defining the boundaries of the claim in the manner and within the time hereinafter prescribed, and by erecting or constructing at the point of such discovery a monument of the size and character of any of the several monuments prescribed in section 2 of this act and by posting in or upon such discovery monument a notice of such location, which must contain: First — The name of the claim; Second — The name of the locator or locators; Third — the date of the location; Fourth — The number of linear feet claimed in the length along the course of the vein, each way from the point of discovery, with the width claimed on each side of the center of the vein and the general course of the lode or vein, as near as may be." (R. 160-161)

Sec. 4121:

"The locator of the lode mining claim must sink a discovery shaft upon the claim located four feet by six feet to the depth of at least ten feet from the lowest part of the rim of such shaft at the surface, or deeper, if necessary to show by such work a lode deposit of mineral in place; a cut or crosscut or tunnel which cuts a lode at a depth of ten feet or an open cut along the said ledge or lode, equivalent in size to a shaft four feet by six feet by ten feet deep, is equivalent to a discovery shaft. The locator must define the boundaries of his claim by removing the top of a tree (having a diameter of not less than four

inches) not less than three feet above the ground, and blazing and marking the same, or by a rock in place, capping such rock with smaller stones, such rock and stones to have a height of not less than three feet, or by setting a post or stone one at each corner and one at the center of each side line. When a post is used, it must be at least four inches in diameter by four and one-half feet in length set one foot in the ground. When it is practically impossible, on account of bedrock or precipitous ground, to sink such posts, they may be placed in a mound of earth or stones, or where the proper placing of such posts or other monuments is impracticable or dangerous to life or limb, it shall be lawful to place such posts or monuments at the nearest point properly marked to designate its right place. When a stone is used (not a rock in place) it must be not less than six inches in diameter and eighteen inches in length set two-thirds of its length in the top of a mound of earth or stone, four feet in diameter and two and one-half feet in height. All trees, posts or rocks used as monuments, when not four feet in diameter at the base, shall be surrounded by a mound of earth or stone four feet in diameter by two feet in height, which trees, posts, stones or rock monuments must be so marked as to designate the corners of the claim located; provided, however, that the locator of a mining claim shall within twenty days from the date of posting the notice of location define the boundaries of said claim by placing at each corner and at the center of each side line one of the hereinbefore described monuments, and shall within ninety days of the date of posting said location notice perform the location work hereinbefore prescribed." (R. 161, 162)

Sec. 4122:

“Any locator or locators of a mining claim, after having established the boundaries of said claims, and after having complied with the provisions of this act with reference to the establishment of such boundaries, may file with the district mining recorder a notice of location, setting forth the name given to the lode or vein, the number of linear feet claimed in length along the course of the vein, the date of location, the date on which the boundaries of the “claim were completed, and the name of the locator or locators. Should any claim be located in any section or territory where no district has been as yet formed, or where there is no district recorder, the locator or locators of such claims may file with the county recorder, notice of location as set forth above, and said notice of location will be prima facie evidence in all courts of justice of the first location of said lode or vein. Within ninety days of the date of posting the location notice upon the claim the locator shall record his claim with the mining district recorder and the county recorder of the mining district or county in which such claim is situated by location certificate which must contain: First — The name of the lode or vein; Second — The name of the locator or locators; Third — The date of the location and such description of the location of said claim, with reference to some natural object or permanent monument, as will identify the claim; Fourth — The number of linear feet claimed in length along the course of the vein each way from the point of discovery, with the width on each side of the center of the vein, and the general course of the lode or vein as near as may be; Fifth — The dimensions and locations of the discovery shaft or its equivalent, sunk upon the claim; Sixth — The location and

description of each corner, with the markings thereon. Any record of the location of a lode mining claim which shall not contain all the requirements named in this section shall be void. All records of lode or placer mining claims, millsites or tunnel rights heretofore made by any recorder of any mining district or any county recorder are hereby declared to be valid and to have the same force and effect as records made in pursuance of the provisions of this act. And any such record, or a copy thereof duly verified by a mining recorder or duly certified by a county recorder shall be prima facie evidence of the facts therein stated." (R. 163, 164)

The mining claims were located for Kidder and King in the autumn of 1949 (R. 51, 124) by an engineer named Casselli who lived in Ely, Nevada (R. 52). Kidder had been employed by Reynolds (who was obviously a promoter) to do this work. The location work consisted of driving location posts measuring 4 x 4 inches or 4 x 6 inches, into the ground or supporting them with a pile of stone where the earth was too firm and could not be penetrated. On these location posts were nailed cans in which were placed the location notices (R. 54, 124, 126). A witness for Mrs. King (Reynolds) asserted that the claims were "interlaced with ore showings." (R. 125). There was no location work done on the claims — "no shaft sunk, no digging." (R. 125, 126, 128). Nothing was done except placing the location stakes or monuments (R. 126). No notice of location was ever recorded either in the office of the Recorder of the White Pine Mining District or White Pine County, Nevada (R. 126). Casselli was employed by Reynolds on behalf of Kidder and King

only to erect the discovery stakes or posts and to place the notices in the cans which were affixed to the stakes (R. 127).

The unpatented lode mining claims were never conveyed by Kidder and the plaintiff and appellee, King, to Hintze, the defendant and appellant, or to any company organized by Hintze (R. 250) although shortly before Kidder's death he delivered to Hintze a file containing correspondence in regard to the transaction involved in this action (R. 253). Among the papers was a deed (Ex. 8, R. 258) which had been signed by Kidder, (R. 251) but not by King, wherein Hamilton Silver Mines, Inc. was grantee. This instrument described Mid-Dolomite Nos. 7 and 8, Helena, Charter Oak and Monitor Reindeer, but did not describe the Kidder-King and King claims (R. 254).

(Special Note: The alleged unpatented mining claims known and designated as King Nos. 1 to 7, Kidder-King Nos. 1 to 8, Helena and Mid-Dolomite Nos. 7 and 8, will be for convenience hereinafter be designated as the Kidder-King claims.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE ALLEGED KIDDER-KING UNPATENTED MINING CLAIMS WERE MERE FICTIONS ON JUNE 24, 1950. THEY HAD NO LEGAL EXISTENCE AND AS A CONSEQUENCE THE PLAINTIFF HAD NO RIGHT, TITLE, CLAIM OR INTEREST IN AND TO THE SAME.

1. The location of the Kidder-King claims was not distinctly marked on the ground so that their boundaries could be readily traced, as required by 30

U.S.C.A., 28, (R.S. 2324).

The evidence clearly establishes the fact that the Kidder-King claims were located in the autumn of 1949 by an engineer named Casselli, who was employed by Reynolds to do this work. At this time Casselli simply erected location posts and nailed cans thereto in which were placed the location notices. Reynolds in his testimony makes it clear that nothing was done except placing these location stakes or monuments. There was no effort made to place markers in the ground so that the boundaries of each claim could be readily traced. This was manifestly the status of these so-called claims on June 24, 1950, the date on which the parties executed the contract which is the subject of this action. Over six months had elapsed between the date of posting the notices of location and the execution of the contract, as Reynolds repeatedly stated in his testimony that these locations were made in the autumn of 1949. The status of the law with respect to this situation is clear.

Congress had definitely provided the method by which lode mining claims should be located. *R.S. 2324 (30 U.S.C.A. 28)* provides in pertinent part as follows:

“The miners of each mining district may make regulations not in conflict with the laws of the United States, or with the laws of the State or Territory in which the district is situated, governing the location, manner of recording, amount of work necessary to hold possession of a mining claim, subject to the following requirements: *The location must be distinctly marked on the ground so that its boundaries can be readily traced.* * * ” (Emphasis supplied)

Lindley discusses this statute as follows:

“The Revised Statutes of the United States contain the mandatory provision, that the ‘location must be distinctly marked on the ground so that its boundaries can be readily traced.’ There is no escape from this requirement. While it is possible that state statutes or local district regulations may particularize as to the character of the marking, they cannot dispense with the necessity for compliance with the law of congress. While, as we shall hereafter point out, time is allowed within which to establish the boundaries, until this is done the location is not complete. The requirement is an imperative and indispensable condition precedent to a valid location, and is not to be ‘frittered away by construction.’ After the discovery, it is the main act of original location. This was the rule under the Spanish and Mexican law. The object of the law in requiring the location to be marked on the ground is to fix the claim, to prevent floating or swinging, so that those who in good faith are looking for unoccupied ground in the vicinity of previous locations may be enabled to ascertain exactly what has been appropriated, in order to make their locations upon the residue. It also operates to determine the right of the claimant as between himself and the general government.” (2 *Lindley on Mines* (3rd Ed.), Sec. 371)

“In order to prevent the swinging or floating of claims and to apprise other explorers of the amount of unappropriated ground still available, the Federal statutes declare that ‘the location must be distinctly marked on the ground so that its boundaries can be readily traced;’ and in many mining areas this somewhat cryptic enactment has been supplemented by miners’ rules or state

legislation, prescribing the methods to be followed and fixing a time for compliance. In other words, it is just as essential that the boundaries of a claim be duly marked as it is that a notice be posted, and it appears to be definitely settled that a failure to comply with this requirement nullifies the location and makes it inoperative to segregate the land included therein from the public domain — at least during the continuance of the default.” (36 *Am. Jur. Mines and Minerals*, Sec. 89, page 341)

“One of the imperative requirements of the statute, an indispensable condition precedent of a valid location, is that it shall be ‘distinctly marked on the ground so that its boundaries can be readily traced’ (R. S. 2324).” (*Gleeson v. Martin White Mining Company*, 13 Nev. 442, 35 Pac. St. R., 442 at 456.)

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