1980

Vera S. King v. F. F. Hintze : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

done in the winter of 1949 and 1950, and had not been done on the 24th day of June, 1950, when the agreement, which is the subject of this law suit, was entered into between Mr. Kidder and Mrs. King, on the one hand, and F. F. Hintze, on the other (T. 20). However, no intervening rights had been filed.

Mr. F. F. Hintze is a mining engineer who has long been connected with the mining department of the University of Utah. He was associated in business with Kidder. In the spring of 1950, Hintze went to New York City where he talked to some people interested in putting money in a mining venture in the West (T. 202). Hintze evidently knew about the Kidder-King properties from his association with Kidder. Upon his return to Salt Lake City, Hintze contacted Kidder regarding acquiring the mining lease and option above mentioned and the unpatented claims which are above discussed. Kidder expressed his willingness (T. 193-195). Thereupon Hintze contacted Mrs. King to determine whether or not she was willing to sell her interest in these claims (T-170-173). Mrs. King considered the matter for a day or two and then advised Hintze that she was willing. Accordingly, Hintze drew up the agreement and the assignment which is the subject of this law suit (T. 22). Mrs. King went to Hintze's office and there signed the agreement. Kidder signed at the same time.

As is stated in the statement of facts in appellant's brief, this agreement constituted an assignment to Hintze of the mining lease and option which Mrs. King and Mr. Kidder owned. In exchange for this, Hintze agreed to form a corporation and to convey to Kidder and Mrs. King, in exchange

for the mining lease and option, 1,250,000 shares of stock of a par value of 10c per share in said corporation to be formed. The agreement also provided that Mrs. King and Mr. Kidder would execute and deliver to Hintze or to the company to be organized by him a Quit Claim Deed to the unpatented mining claims mentioned above and also to the Charter Oak, a patented claim, and one-third interest in the Monitor Reindeer Survey, also a patented claim. The evidence indicates that Hintze never did follow through on the location and development work on the unpatented mining claims. However, he did proceed to re-locate them, not in the name of Kidder and King, but in his own name (T. 132, 160). The evidence is undisputed that Hintze never formed the corporation.

I. THERE WAS NO BREACH OF THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT BY KIDDER AND KING.

(a) THE MINING LEASE AND OPTION WERE IN GOOD STANDING.

In his appeal to this court the defendant, Hintze, has based his entire case on an alleged deficiency in the location work on the unpatented mining claims. He has raised no question on appeal as to the status of the case and option, although in the court below and in all the correspondence which appears in evidence, his original assigned reason for failing to go through with the contract was that the lease and option were in default. Evidently the evidence was so overwhelming on this point that it has been abandoned by Hintze. The respondent brings the point up here only because

of the danger that in concentrating only on the unpatented mining claims, their importance in this transaction will be exaggerated.

As is stated above Mrs. King and Mr. Kidder held a lease and option on the Ora, the Onetha and the Milwaukee claims. These were patented claims on which there was an operating mine. The unpatented mining claims in question had no mine workings on them at all. They surrounded the claims which were subject of the lease and option and were considered of value in the matter only for the purpose of protecting the working claims. Mr. E. W. Newman, a mining engineer employed by American Smelting and Refining Company, was called as a witness by the plaintiff to place a value on the properties conveyed by Kidder and King to Hintze. Mr. Newman stated that in his opinion the total properties, i. e. the lease and option on the working claims and the unpatented claims surrounding them, were worth a minimum of \$25,000.00 on a cash deal or a maximum of \$50,000.00 on an option deal. On cross-examination the defendant asked Mr. Newman to break this figure of \$25,000.00 down as between the lease and option, which was purchased, and the unpatented claims surrounding them. Mr. Newman stated that he was unable to break the figure down. However, he did state that in arriving at his minimum figure of \$25,000.00 he had given major consideration to the lease and option (T. 78). He stated that the showings from the Ora mine were very favorable. He stated that he had not even inspected the grounds on which the unpatented mining claims were located and had assigned value to them only because they surrounded and

protected the claims subject to the lease and option which were actually being worked. Therefore, the court should keep in mind that even if it were true, as we deny, that the plaintiff had no property interest in the unpatented mining claims, still there was no failure of consideration under the contract because of the fact that the major element of value in the conveyance from Kidder and King to Hintze was the mining lease and option on the operating mine, which the defendant evidently now admits was in good standing as he has raised in this court no question as to its validity.

(b) THE PLAINTIFF HAD A PROPERTY RIGHT IN THE UNPATENTED MINING CLAIMS WHICH COULD BE CONVEYED BY QUIT CLAIM DEED.

The appellant's entire appeal is based upon his contention that Mrs. King and Mr. Kidder had no right at all in the unpatented mining claims and that there was therefore a breach in the contract on their part which excused performance on his part. His entire brief is devoted to this point. Even if Hintze's position that Kidder and King had no property right in the unpatented mining claims were true, that would still not constitute a defense to the action by Hintze for reasons that will be discussed in the next succeeding section. However, because respondent does not wish the court to feel that we acknowledge this point to be well taken, we wish to discuss the matter here.

Evidently the contention of the appellant in regard to the unpatented claims was raised by him in the case as an after thought. The evidence shows that he was approached

a number of times regarding the formation of the corporation, and always excused his non-performance on the ground that he was busy, that he did not have sufficient money, and later on the ground that the lease and option was in default. Never, at any time up to the time this action was brought did he raise the point that there was anything wrong with the unpatented mining claims. There is in evidence correspondence between Mrs. King and Hintze and between counsel in this case. Hintze attempts to justify his failure to form a corporation, but nowhere in this correspondence does there appear any reference to any invalidity of the unpatented mining claims. Furthermore, in his answer, which was filed on the 18th day of August, 1952, Hintze does not raise any question as to the unpatented mining claims. The sole defense set forth in the Answer and Counterclaim is that the mining lease and option was in default, which position he has now abandoned. It was not until 8 months later, on the 28th day of April, 1953, just 20 days before this case came to trial, that the defendant filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim in which he raised for the first time the question as to the questionable character of the unpatented mining claims.

Hintze certainly was never misled by Mrs. King as to the condition of these unpatented mining claims. The testimony is undisputed that Mrs. King did not approach Mr. Hintze on the matter but that he approached her. Furthermore, Hintze admits that no representation as to these claims was made by Mrs. King. Reynolds testified, without contradiction, that prior to the time that Hintze prepared the contract here in question, he, Reynolds had told Hintze just what had been

done in regard to the unpatented claims. Certainly, therefore, Hintze, an experienced mining man, could not have been misled. Furthermore, the evidence is undisputed that immediately after the contract was signed, Hintze rather than carrying through on the locations filed in the name of Kidder and King the previous fall, elected to make new filings on the property in his own name, which he did proceed to do. Therefore, even if we were to take the position that the location notices filed by King and Kidder were invalid because of the length of time that had run without the location work being done, still that would not be available to Hintze as a reason for not going ahead with the formation of the corporation as there had been no intervening claims filed and Hintze immediately after the signing of the contract, posted location notices on the land in his own name and could have followed through with the location work had he elected to do so.

The appellant has quoted at length from statutes of the United States and statutes of the state of Nevada relative to the location of lode mining claims. We see no purpose in restating the statutes here, but will refer to them by number as they appear in the brief of the appellant. The United States laws require (30 U.S.C.A. 28) that the location of a lode mining claim must be distinctly marked on the ground so that its boundaries can be readily traced. With this requirement, Mr. Casselli complied in filing the location for Mrs. King and Mr. Kidder. He did erect monuments on the ground and on each monument placed a can and in this can placed the description by metes and bounds of the claim in question.

There is no requirement in the federal law that the four corners of the claim must be actually marked on the ground, nor is this requirement found in the laws of many states. The laws of the state of Nevada, Sec. 4121, do require that the corners be marked. However, in this regard, it may be well to review the steps necessary to locate and patent a lode mining claim. The first step which is taken is the filing of a location, which is done by the erecting of a monument and by the placing on the monument a description of the claim the name of the claimant and other pertinent information. Under the laws of the state of Nevada within 20 days after the posting of the notice of location, monuments are to be erected at each corner and in the center of the claim. Within 90 days after the posting of the notice of location, a discovery shaft should be driven. After the discovery shaft is driven, the claimant may then file his claim for record in the office of the County Recorder. Then after doing the necessary development work and complying with the other requirements under the law, the filing may ripen into a patent. In this case, the monuments were placed and the location notices were properly placed on the monuments. However, it is not disputed that the four corners were not marked out within 20 days, nor is it disputed that the discovery shaft was not sunk within 90 days. Attention of the court, however, is called to the testimony of the witness Reynolds that winter set in immediately after the filing of the location notices. He testified that the claims were at an elevation of some 8,000 feet and that it was impossible to even get to the claims during the time that the snow was on the ground. Obviously, therefore, regardless of what the statutes provide, it would have been a physical

impossibility to follow through with the marking of the corners or with the sinking of the discovery shaft within the time required by the statute. This is the situation that was intended to be taken care of by Section 1563 from the Compiled Laws of Nevada, which reads as follows:

"The location and transfers of mining claims heretofore made shall be established and proved in contestation before the courts, by the local rules, regulations, or customs of the miners in the several mining districts of the territory in which such location and transfers were made."

Reynolds was qualified as an expert and testified that he had filed claims in the same mining district and was acquainted with the customs in the area (Tr. 20). He testified that it was the custom in this area, due to the severe winters, that the time in which to place the corner markings and which to sink a discovery shaft was waived during the period that weather prevented access to the mining property. Such appears to have been a logical rule, and in fact is the rule that has been adopted by the Supreme Court of the state of Utah for this state.

In the case of *Brockbank v. Albion Mining Company*, 29 Utah 367, the court in discussing this very question stated:

"While the boundaries were not fully marked on the day the location notice was posted because the snow then being from 10 to 15 feet deep, it was impractical to do so, still the notice having contained a full description of the claim by courses and distance from the discovery monument where it was posted and the claim being a re-location of one covering the

same ground, the corners of which were yet substantially in place, the location was at least sufficient to entitle a locator to perfect it within a reasonable time or before other parties had acquired rights in the ground."

This case is directly in point with the Brockbank case, except that in this case it was not a reposting on an earlier location where the corners had been marked, however, the full description of the property was contained in the location notice. Anyone desiring to discover the description could have done so. In this case, as in the Brockbank case, it was impossible to locate the corners within the time required because of deep snow. Furthermore, it does not appear that a reasonable time had elapsed after the snow had melted in the spring and before this contract was signed. It should further be pointed out that in this case there had been no rights acquired by other parties. No other claims had been filed on this property. In fact the witness Hintze, himself, after having signed the contract with Kidder and Mrs. King, went out and refiled on the property himself in his own name.

In regard to the effect of mining laws and customs on filing of claims, the following language is found in 36 Am. Jur. 331:

"Sec. 76. Miners' Rules and Customs. The recognition accorded by the Act of 1866 to the rules and customs developed by the miners of the West was not withdrawn when that enactment was superseded, for the present statute expressly declares that subject to certain stated requirements, 'the miners of each mining district may make regulations not in conflict with the laws of the United States, or with the laws of the state

or territory in which the district is situated, governing the location, manner or recording, (and) amount of work necessary to hold possession of a mining claim.' Since these rules and customs have been adopted in most of the mining regions of the United States, it is evident that they constitute a large body of unwritten law which must be given effect in all cases wherein they do not conflict with the statutes.

"It is not necessary that a custom be defined in writing, for it may be binding whether written or unwritten. Moreover, customs of this type are to be distinguished from ancient customs of the common law, which, to have force, must be immemorial and continuous."

The authors of *Corpus Juris* treat the same subject at 58 *Corpus Juris Sec.*, 65, in the following language:

"Sec. 8. At an early day there grew up in the western and southwestern part of the United States certain customs and usages with respect to mining, and the customs and usages and rules and regulations whereby rights to mine were initiated and protected and all rights of liberty and property recognized were generally so fair and equitable that they were ultimately respected and recognized by the courts and regarded as the common law of mining. Under the federal statutes, 30 U.S.C.A. Sec. 28, the miners of each mining district are still authorized to make rules and regulations, not in conflict with the laws of the United States or with the laws of the state or territory in which the district is situated, governing the location of claims, the manner of recording, etc.

"The applicability and effect of particular rules, regulations, and customs are considered *infra* Sections 12-96."

According to Reynolds' testimony, the custom in the White Pine Mining District, due to the geographical location, was that the time requirement as to location of corners and the driving of the discovery shaft was tolled during the period when the land was inaccessible. This provision is not contrary to the laws of the United States nor to the laws of the state of Nevada. Therefore, it clearly appears from the evidence that the time in which to comply with these requirements had not expired.

The courts of Nevada very early recognized the effect of mining customs. Two early cases on this point are *Golden Fleece Gold & Silver Mining Co. v. Cable Consolidated Gold & Silver Mining Co.*, 12 Nev. 312, and *Smith v. North American Mining Co.*, 1 Nev. 423.

(c) FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH TIME REQUIREMENTS IN THE LOCATION LAWS DOES NOT WORK A FORFEITURE IN THE ABSENCE OF AN INTERVENING VALID CLAIM.

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